Stockholm School of Economics Andreas Runnemo

Why Daddy months?

How a combination of statistical discriminations and norms could explain why fathers take only a small fraction of the parental leave and why forcing them to take a bigger part could be a good idea.

20499 Andreas Runnemo

Supervisor: Mark Voorneveld

Abstract

Since the first daddy month was introduced in 1994, it has been one of the most discussed issues in Swedish politics. At the bottom of the discussion lies the question of why women still take almost all the parental leave when the choice is free.

In this thesis, I set up a model where I combine the theory on statistical discrimination with the Akerlof and Kranton (2010) identity theory.

The model shows that a combination of statistical discrimination and gender related norms can explain the asymmetric use of the parental leave even in a world without genetic differences between the sexes. Furthermore, this situation could be a suboptimal equilibrium which could motivate government interventions.

Reforms such as the daddy months could be a mean to shift norms toward a more optimal equilibrium. Used as a temporarily policy, daddy months can thus improve welfare in the long run. However, short term welfare losses are a price which must be paid. As long as the policy is active, the welfare effects will be negative.

The thesis does not try to find the correct explanation of the current situation. What I have done is to show one possible way to motivate reforms such as the daddy months and under which assumptions the arguments hold. The current state could as well be an optimal equilibrium due to average genetic differences and the aim of the thesis is not to judge between these possible explanations, but to provide a base for discussions and for future research.

Contents

| 1 | Inti | roduction | 2 |
|----------------------|--|---|--|
| | 1.1 | The Swedish parental insurance | 2 |
| | 1.2 | Why daddy months | 4 |
| | 1.3 | The contribution from economists | 5 |
| | 1.4 | My contribution | 9 |
| 2 | The | e Model | 10 |
| | 2.1 | The game | 10 |
| | 2.2 | Definitions | 10 |
| | 2.3 | Stage 1 – Wages | 11 |
| | 2.4 | Stage 2 – The utility function | 11 |
| | 2.5 | Stage 3 – Forming new expectations | 13 |
| | 2.6 | How to interpret the game | 14 |
| 3 | Sta | tistical discrimination | 16 |
| | 3.1 | Statistical discrimination and the positive specialization effect | 16 |
| | 3.2 | Statistical discrimination and variation in preferences | 17 |
| | 3.3 | Statistical discrimination and variation in abilities | 19 |
| | 3.4 | Conclusion on statistical discrimination | 20 |
| | | | |
| 4 | Nor | rms | 22 |
| 4 | Nor 4.1 | The gravitational effect of norms | 22 22 |
| 4 | Nor 4.1 4.2 | rms | 22 22 25 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dao | rms | 22 22 25 28 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 | cms | 22 22 25 28 28 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dat 5.1 5.2 | cms | 22 22 25 28 28 29 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 | rms The gravitational effect of norms | 22 22 25 28 28 29 29 |
| 4 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Date 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 | The gravitational effect of norms | 22 22 25 28 28 29 30 |
| 4 5 6 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dao 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The | The gravitational effect of norms | 22 22 25 28 28 29 29 30 30 |
| 4 5 6 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 | rms | 22 22 25 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 |
| 4 5 6 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 6.2 | The gravitational effect of norms | 22 22 25 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 30 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 6.2 6.3 | The gravitational effect of norms | 222 225 288 299 300 300 300 31 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 | The gravitational effect of norms | 222 225 288 299 300 300 300 311 322 |
| 4 5 6 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Dac 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 | The gravitational effect of norms | 222 225 28 29 30 30 30 30 30 31 32 32 |
| 4 5 | Nor 4.1 4.2 Date 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 The 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 | The gravitational effect of norms | 222 225 28 29 300 300 300 300 311 322 32 33 |

| Α | Para | ameters | for | fig | ure | \mathbf{es} | • | | | • | • | • | • | | | | | • | | • | • | | | 37 |
|---|------|----------|-----|-----|-----|---------------|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|----|
| | A.1 | Figure 1 | | | | | | | | | • | • | • | • | • | | | | | • | • | | | 37 |
| | A.2 | Figure 3 | | | | | | | • | | • | • | • | • | • | | | | | • | • | • | | 38 |
| | A.3 | Figure 4 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 38 |

1 Introduction

One of the more discussed reforms in Sweden the last decades has been the daddy months, which means that a part of the parental insurance is individual and can not be traded to the other parent. The motive for restricting the possibility of trading was that fathers used only a very small share, which was considered negative. Although the reform has had some effect, the use of the parental insurance is still far from equal which has raised demands for further restrictions in tradability.

The most common argument against daddy months is that the parents themselves are best suited to decide what is best for them. This is an argument which is easy to understand and it needs no further explanation. The question is how a government intervention can be motivated.

The economic research on the parental leave has so far been focused on empirical evaluations of the reforms and its effects. No attempts have been made to explain why forcing the parents to share more equally should be a good idea. This has been done from a perspective of gender studies, but not from an economic perspective.

In this thesis, I will show how one can explain this by combining theories on statistical discrimination with identity economics. Doing so, I will show that the current situation can be explained as a suboptimal equilibrium given certain assumptions. Whether these assumptions are realistic or not, I do not try to answer. Average genetic differences can also explain why the parents chose to let the mother take care of the children. And even without genetic differences, it is possible that the current situation is an optimal gender based specialization. Hopefully, the model can be used in future research to test different explanations, but that is beyond the scope of this thesis.

1.1 The Swedish parental insurance

The current parental insurance was introduced in Sweden in 1974 (replacing the existing maternity insurance). This insurance means that either of the parents can stay home and take care of small children and get paid for it. The law was already in 1974 formulated so that half of the insurance should go to the father

| | Parental | insurance | | | | | | | | |
|------|-------------------|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Year | days (%), used by | | | | | | | | | |
| | women | men | | | | | | | | |
| 1974 | 100 | 0 | | | | | | | | |
| 1980 | 95 | 5 | | | | | | | | |
| 1985 | 94 | 6 | | | | | | | | |
| 1990 | 93 | 7 | | | | | | | | |
| 1995 | 90 | 10 | | | | | | | | |
| 2000 | 88 | 12 | | | | | | | | |
| 2005 | 80 | 20 | | | | | | | | |
| 2006 | 79 | 21 | | | | | | | | |
| 2007 | 79 | 21 | | | | | | | | |

 Table 1: Usage of the parental leave insurance in percentage, as divided between

 women and men, during the years 1974–2007 (SCB, 2008)

and half of it to the mother, but it was possible to trade part or all of one's own days to the other parent. The insurance currently pays 80 % of the salary up till a limit. The percentage of the wage that is insured has varied between 75 % and 90 %. Also the level of the limit has varied over time.

In 1995 the "daddy month" was introduced. The daddy month is a restriction on the way of sharing the parental leave where 30 days can not be traded to the other parent. This period was later extended to 60 days for children born in 2002 or later. Even though the restriction affects women as well, the non tradable part of the insurance is called daddy months because the motive of the reforms has been to increase father's share¹.

When the current parental insurance was introduced, the mothers took more than 99 % of the parental leave. Since then, the fathers' has increased, but despite the reforms the mothers still use 79 % of the insurance (see Table 1).

The latest policy with regards to the parental leave is the equality bonus which was introduced in 2008 (Försäkringskassan). The equality bonus is a subsidy which is bigger the more equal the parents share the parental leave. So far, the reform have not had any measurable effects (Johansson, 2010).

Ahead of the 2010 year election, newspapers speculate that the socialist coalition wants to increase the restrictions in tradability (Haverdahl et al., 2010). Although this is a quite popular idea among politicians, it is less popular among

¹For the reader who wants a deeper understanding of the history of the parental insurance and the discussions around it, Klinth (2002) gives an extensive overview of the political discussions between 1974 and 1995.

voters. According to a recent study, 85 % of the population do not want to increase the restrictions (Leijel, 2010).

1.2 Why daddy months

The reasons for not putting restrictions on how parents can split the insurance are, at least from an economist's view, obvious. If the mother, or the father, has a comparative advantage for child care vis-à-vis work, it is a Pareto improvement if trading is allowed² – as long as the parents' choice does not affect other people negatively.

To understand why two daddy months have been introduced and why there is an ongoing debate on increasing the non-tradable part even more, one must understand the arguments and beliefs behind the reform. These are to a very large extent based on other scholarly fields than the economic. Since this is a thesis in economics, I will here only give a brief and somewhat simplified summary.

The foundations in the argumentation for a non tradable part of the insurance can be found in the field of gender studies. The basic analyzes in gender studies is the separation between sexes and the associated hierarchy³.

Separation of sexes means that there is a strongly culturally anchored set of beliefs associated with sex and that sex is a very important factor for both one's identity and how one is perceived by others. In the case of the parental insurance, this is manifested by strong beliefs about the responsibilities of a mother, which differs from the responsibilities of a father. To leave most of the parental leave to the father conflicts with the general view of how a good mother should behave. A mother who takes only two months of the parental leave will be perceived as a bad mother whereas a father who takes two months will be perceived as a pretty good father.

The hierarchy related to the gender separation means that characteristics, abilities and tasks which are culturally associated with women have lower status and that the man is the norm in society. This means that men get more power and a bigger freedom of choice than women⁴.

How both the gender roles and the different freedom and power associated with them works in the context of parental leave is discussed by Bekkengen

²This is true as long as not all individuals are identical, which means that it must not imply average differences between women and men.

³See for example Rubin (1975) or de Beauvoir (2010).

 $^{^4\}mathrm{See}$ Gemzöe (2004) for a discussion of this and a general introduction to the field of gender studies.

(2002).

She shows that the parental leave is viewed as an option when becoming a father whereas it is a non-negotiable part of becoming a mother. This is also manifested in the attitudes of employers. If a man becomes a father the employer hopes and expects that he will chose not to use a bigger part of the parental leave. When a woman becomes a mother the situation is different. In this case, the employer understands she must be away for a longer time and this is viewed as a problem which the employer must solve.

How these ideas are central for the advocators of a more individualized parental insurance becomes clear in the work by Lorentzi (2004), which is an antology produced by a Swedish union in order to present arguments for more individualization. Already in the foreword it is stated that the current construction of the parental insurance conserves old (and unwanted) gender roles. This is viewed as a problem with regards to gender equality and equal opportunities, but also as a problem of badly used human capital.

The reasoning behind the latter is that the outcome is not efficient since the gender roles force mothers, who otherwise (without taking the gender roles under consideration) would have a comparative advantage for working, to stay at home instead of letting the child's father do so.

One frequently discussed explanation to why fathers use such a small part of the insurance is that they generally have a higher income and that it is thus economically beneficial for the family if the mother stays home. Although this might be a part of the explanation, other studies indicate that it is at least not the entire explanation. Batljan et al. (2004) shows that even in the families where the mother's income is above the limit and the father's below are more equal, the mother still takes more than half of the days. The studies by Andersson and Johansson (2006) also indicate that it is not the factual circumstances which are most important for the parents' decision.

1.3 The contribution from economists

The economists who have studied the Swedish parental insurance have done so from an empirical perspective. One example of this is Ekberg et al. (2005) who study if men who take a bigger part of the parental leave also stay home with sick children later on (their answer is no). Eriksson (2005) has also studied the effects of the introduction of the second daddy month, where he found that the increase in the share of the fathers was smaller than when the first daddy month was introduced. His conclusion is that fixed costs are not important for the father's choice and that the marginal utility from parental leave is not increasing. Another example is Albrecht et al. (1999) who study the wage effect of different kind of career interruptions. One conclusion is that men are punished harder than women for staying home with children.

What has, to a large extent, been missing, are theoretical economic models explaining why, and under which circumstances, forcing fathers to take a bigger part of the parental leave is a good idea. The probably most common attitude among economists is expressed by Henrekson (1993) who concludes that if a more equal sharing is wanted individualization is the best way to go, but in the same time has obvious doubts on the aim.

I find the lack of theoretical economic motivation for an individualized parental insurance interesting. One possibility is that the arguments presented for government interventions simply do not hold when forcing them into a mathematical model. At least not with less than the assumption that the government is better suited than the parents themselves to decide what is the best for them.

The other possibility is that economists have left for other fields to explain why reforms are wanted. Economic theory might not be the best for explaining everything in society, but economic models have features which complement more narrative science. First, economic models are good for checking internal consistency in a theory. Used correctly in the discussion an economic model can prove that if particular assumptions are valid they lead to certain outcomes. By doing so, they will put focus on the assumptions which can then be scrutinized. Second, economic models can be quantitatively tested. Considering the last years overall development of economics, where more psychological and behavioral aspects have been included in economic (mostly game theoretic) models, I found it interesting to explore the possibility. Hence, I will in this thesis set up a model which shows one possible way of motivating reforms such as the daddy months.

Given the arguments discussed above, there are two types of arguments which could be transformed to economic models⁵. The first is to assume asymmetric power between men and women which could be balanced by government interventions. The second is to model how the way current parents chose can have negative effects on future norms and expectations, which is an externality to them.

If it, to a large extent, is the father who has the power and chooses how to split the parental leave, the result is optimal only if he is totally altruistic toward the mother. If he is not, their might be reasons to intervene. One way of modeling this has been introduced by Lundberg and Pollak (1993) who sets up a

⁵A combination of both is of course also possible.

bargaining model where the threat point is a non-cooperative equilibrium within marriage. This non-cooperative equilibrium is related to traditional gender roles. Since the threat point is more beneficial for the man, the equilibrium will also be. The focus of the authors is not to evaluate reforms as an individualized parental insurance, but with some additional assumptions I believe their model could be used to motivate government interventions.

The second approach is to model the effect on future norms and expectations as externalities. If the choice of the parents affects others, interventions could be motivated even if they are altruistic toward each other. It is this direction I will explore. I will do so by using two economic theories which incorporate expectations in different ways, statistical discrimination and identity economics. Furthermore, both these theories can be related to arguments frequently used in the Swedish debate. Statistical discrimination explains how women get paid less because they are expected to stay home with children in the future whereas identity economics can be used to model gender roles as an endogenous factor.

Statistical discrimination was introduced by Arrow (1973) and Phelps (1972) in the beginning of the 1970s. They showed that in a world with insufficient information, a statistical difference between two groups will mean that a person from the group which is on average less well suited for a job will be discriminated. This is the case even if the particular person is more suited than the average, as long as she can not fully prove that to the employer. In the case of the parental leave, this means that even women who do not plan to have children at all or have husbands who plan to take the bigger part of the leave, will lose because they can not fully prove that to their employer⁶. The loop of arguments goes as follows: Women get paid less than men in the beginning of their career since employers expect them to have longer parental leave periods (which is costly for the employer). Because of this, they will earn less when they get the child. This makes it less costly for the family to let the mother stay home with the child. And since most women choose to do so employers will continue to pay women less and the circle is closed.

The beauty with statistical discrimination is that it shows that discrimination can be a sustainable equilibrium even though no one dislikes working with the other group (compare theories on taste based discrimination (Becker, 1971)) and there are no default differences between the groups. This introduces an externality to the parent's choice. If historical distribution of parental leave between men and women forms the employers' expectations on how future parents will share, it means that the decisions of today parents do not just affect

⁶This is also a common argument in the Swedish debate. See for example Lorentzi (2004).

themselves. This has also been up for discussion and in (SOU 2005:73) it is stated as a goal for the policies to avoid negative effect on "all women and men in fertile age".

In Becker's theories on division of labor in households, it is the individuals themselves who invest different amounts of time and effort in market related human capital depending on if they have a comparative advantage (compared to their spouse) in household or labor market activities (Becker, 1981, 1985). Becker shows how small initial differences will be multiplied so that the actual difference in wage will be much bigger than the initial difference in characteristics. If women are to a small extent discriminated in the labor market, Becker shows how this can lead to a much greater difference in wages and labor division. In his model, this is a rational and efficient specialization which increases total output. Combining these findings with statistical discrimination one can imagine the following loop of arguments. Women do not invest the same sum of effort at work as men do because they expect a lower return on investment. Employers anticipate this and give women worse career opportunities. Because of that, women do actually get lower return to investment and the circle is closed.

Becker's theories also raise the question if statistical discrimination can have positive effects by allowing specialization. I will later show that this is indeed the case.

In more recent times, Moro and Norman (2003) have built a more general and complex model of statistical discrimination where they also model the policy of affirmative actions.

Even if it can be discussed whether an individualized parental insurance is by definition an affirmative action (since it gives mothers and fathers the same restrictions) both the intention and the effect is the same which qualifies it for Norman's and Moro's framework. In their general framework, Norman and Moro show that affirmative actions can, but do not necessarily, benefit the discriminated group. It is also not certain whether the total welfare effect is positive or not.

Identity economics is a more recent field which was first introduced in an article by Akerlof and Kranton (2000) which was later followed up by a book (Akerlof and Kranton, 2010). In both the article and the book they argue that identity is a factor which to a large extent influence people's choices and behavior and must thus be incorporated in economic models. Identity affects economic activities in many ways and Akerlof and Kranton build a general model which incorporates much of this. First, a person belongs to a number of social categories such as sex, race, etc. Second, there are norms in society

which prescribe different behaviors for different social categories. Violating these norms has a social cost.

In the case of the parental leave this means that a father who takes a big share of the parental leave will be viewed as a bad employee and, maybe to a larger extent, a mother who takes a small share of the parental leave will be perceived as a bad mother (and woman). This means that identity economics can be used to model gender roles as described in the field of gender studies. Identity economics does not just introduce a way of modeling norms and the cost of deviating from them. It also provides a way of making norms endogenous to the model. The norms might be changed by the actions of the agents in the model. This introduces the aforementioned externality in the parental leave discussions. The parents' choice on how to share the parental leave does not just affect themselves, but it will also affect the norms faced by future parents.

1.4 My contribution

As mentioned earlier, I will not analyze the power relation and equal opportunities between the parents. Instead, I will explore which assumptions are needed to get a sustainable suboptimal equilibrium in a setting where parents behave altruisticly in relation to each other. The mechanisms I will use are statistical discrimination and identity economics. These will be my main tools. In contrast to much of the previous work⁷ I will also allow for individual variation in (exogenous) preferences and abilities. I believe that, under the unrealistic assumption of identical individuals, it is easy to overestimate the effects of both statistical discrimination and norms.

My ambition with this thesis is not to provide a very general and thus (by necessity) complex model. What I have done instead is to set up a model which is as simple as possible, but still includes the most important features. This for example means that I have assumed most relations to be linear, which is generally not a perfect description of the reality. Hence, the results are examples of how different mechanisms could work and interact and not a full review of all possibilities. Nevertheless, I think these examples might provide useful insights.

The rest of the thesis is organized as follows. In the next section, I will set up the model. In the two following sections, I will go through simplified examples where I exclude some features. In section 3, I will go through examples with statistical discrimination and in section 4, I will focus on the norms (using identity economics). After that, I will discuss the implications of possible policy options in section 5. In section 6, I will argue that the results could be valid

⁷For example Moro and Norman (2003) who have a very general model in other aspects.

in a bigger context and discuss how the model works in a more complex and heterogeneous reality. Finally, I will conclude the thesis in section 7.

2 The Model

2.1 The game

The model I will use is a repeated game with several cycles. Each cycle consist of three stages.

Stage 1 The wages for future fathers and mothers are set. The wages will be influenced by expectations on future parental leave.

Stage 2 The child is born and the parents decide on how to share the parental leave. They will choose the alternative which maximizes the utility function.

Stage 3 New expectations are set. The new expectations equal the actual outcome in stage 2 and will be the expectations which affect the wages in stage 1 of the next cycle.

2.2 Definitions

In the model, I will assume that all children are born in families consisting of one mother, M, and one father, F. The mother and the father split the parental insurance between each other. They get one unit parental insurance to share. The mother's share will be denoted f_M and the father's share f_F . To simplify, I will assume that the parents always use the entire insurance so that

$$f_M + f_F = 1,$$
 [sharing condition]

where

$$0 \le f_M, f_F \le 1.$$
 [boundary condition]

Each individual will have a preference for child care vis-à-vis working, C, and a work life ability, A, which are exogenous to the model. As will be seen later, the difference, from a model perspective, between C and A is that A is visible to the one who discriminates (the employer).

To denote expectations, I will use f_M and f_F . I will assume all actors to have the same expectations given the same information. I will use three types of conditional expectations. When I write f_M and f_F , I mean the expected average for women and men respectively.

The employer will only know the sex and the ability of her own employee. She will not be aware of the preferences of her employee and she will know nothing about the employee's husband or wife. Hence, the expectations given only this information are relevant and will be denoted $\tilde{f}_M^{A_M}$ and $\tilde{f}_F^{A_F}$. Finally, the information given complete knowledge of the characteristics of both parents will be relevant. To start with, these expectations will be written \tilde{f}_M^i and \tilde{f}_F^i .

The expectations are assumed to be consistent. Hence, the sharing conditions applies to expectations as well, given the same set of information⁸.

 $\tilde{f}_M + \tilde{f}_F = 1$ and $\tilde{f}_M^i + \tilde{f}_F^i = 1$ [sharing conditions for expectations]

The boundary conditions hold for all expectations

 $0 \leq \tilde{f}_M, \tilde{f}_M^{A_M}, \tilde{f}_M^i, \tilde{f}_F, \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}, \tilde{f}_F^i \leq 1 \quad [\text{boundary condition for expectations}]$

The expected standard deviation of the expectations will be defined as $\sigma_{\tilde{f}} = \sqrt{\sum (\tilde{f}_M^i - \tilde{f}_M)^2}$. The sharing conditions for expectations gives $\tilde{f}_F = 1 - \tilde{f}_M$ and $\tilde{f}_F^i = 1 - \tilde{f}_M^i$. Hence, $\sum \tilde{f}_M^i - \tilde{f}_M^2 = \sum (\tilde{f}_F^i - \tilde{f}_F)^2$ which is why I can write $\sigma_{\tilde{f}}$ without M or F subscript.

2.3 Stage 1 – Wages

The wages set in stage 1 will be denoted $W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M^{A_M})$ and $W(A_F, \tilde{f}_F^{A_F})$. I will use a linear model where I assume the wage to be

$$W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M^{A_M}) = mA_M - k\tilde{f}_M^{A_M}$$

and

$$W(A_F, \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}) = mA_F - k\tilde{f}_F^{A_F}$$

This means that the wage for a person who is not expected to take any parental leave at all is mA.

2.4 Stage 2 – The utility function

When parents decide how to share the parental leave, they consider their common utility. I will assume that the parents are altruistic so it does not affect

⁸There is no relation between $\tilde{f}_M^{A_M}$ and $\tilde{f}_F^{A_F}$ since they express different sets of information. Knowing the ability of the mother is not the same thing as knowing the ability of the father.

their choice if it is the mother's or the father's utility which is affected. I will use the general utility function⁹

$$U(f_M, f_F(f_M), A_M, A_F, C_M, C_F, \sigma_{\tilde{f}}) = U_C(C_M, f_M) + U_C(C_F, f_F(f_M)) + U_W(W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M), f_M) + U_W(W(A_F, \tilde{f}_F), f_F(f_M)) + U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M) + U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_F(f_M))$$

The terms $U_C(C_M, f_M)$ and $U_C(C_F, f_F(f_M))$ reflect the impact of the exogenous preferences. In the computations and examples below, I will use a linear expression for the preference related utility,

$$U_C(C_M, f_M) = C_M f_M$$

and

$$U_C(C_F, f_F(f_M)) = C_F f_F(f_M).$$

The terms $U_W(W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M), f_M)$ and $U_W(W(A_F, \tilde{f}_F), f_F(f_M))$ reflect the income effect of the parental leave. The parent who stays loses some of her income. I will use a linear factor for this as well,

$$U\left(W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M), f_M\right) = W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M)(1 - \ell f_M) =$$

= $(1 - \ell f_M)(mA_M - k\tilde{f}_M^{A_M}) =$
= $(mA_M - k\tilde{f}_M^{A_M}) - f_M(\ell mA_M - \ell k\tilde{f}_M^{A_M})$

and

$$U\left(W(A_F,\tilde{f}_F),f_M\right) = (mA_F - k\tilde{f}_F^{A_F}) - f_F(f_M)(\ell mA_F - \ell k\tilde{f}_F^{A_F}).$$

Without loss of generality I can norm the model by setting $\ell k = 1$. Furthermore, since the units of A_M has not yet been defined, the units of A_M can be chosen so that $\ell m = 1$. Using this, the utility effect will be

$$U(W(A_M, \tilde{f}_M), f_M) = (A_M - \tilde{f}_M^{A_M})(\frac{1}{\ell} - f_M)$$

and

$$U(W(A_F, \tilde{f}_F), f_F(f_M)) = (A_F - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F})(\frac{1}{\ell} - f_F(f_M)).$$

⁹I will write $f_F(F_M)$ to show that the relation between f_M and f_F is given by the (reference sharing conditions).

The terms $U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M)$ and $U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_F(f_M))$ reflect the gain/loss in utility due to how well the way the couple share the parental leave lives up to the norms in society. I will use a quadratic assumption for these terms

$$U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M) = -\alpha(\sigma \tilde{f})(\tilde{f}_M - f_M)^2$$

and

$$U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M) = -\alpha(\sigma\tilde{f})(\tilde{f}_F - f_F(f_M))^2$$

where

$$\alpha = \alpha_0 e^{-\beta \sigma \tilde{f}}.$$

Using the sharing condition, one gets $(\tilde{f}_F - f_F(f_M))^2 = ((1 - \tilde{f}_M) - (1 - f_M))^2 = (\tilde{f}_M - f_M)^2$. Hence, $U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M) = U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_F(f_M))$

Putting all this together, using the sharing condition, the utility function looks like

$$U(f_M) = C_M f_M + C_F (1 - f_M) + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - f_M\right) (A_M - \tilde{f}_M^{A_M}) + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - (1 - f_M)\right) (A_F - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}) - 2\alpha (f_M - \tilde{f}_M)^2$$

Since the quadratic relation on f_M is negative, the utility function will have a global maximum when the possible values of f_M are not restricted. This means that the parents will chose the f_M which sets the derivative of the utility function to 0, or to a boundary value ($f_M = 1$ or $f_M = 0$). Thus, it is interesting to look at the derivative,

$$\frac{dU}{df_M} = [C_M - C_F] - [A_M - A_F] + [\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}] - 4\alpha(f_M - \tilde{f}_M) \text{ [derivative]}$$

When $\alpha \neq 0$ the mother's share will be

$$f_M = \tilde{f}_M + \frac{[C_M - C_F] - [A_M - A_F] + [\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}]}{4\alpha}$$

if this value is in the interval [0, 1].

2.5 Stage 3 – Forming new expectations

The expectations for the next cycle are set based on the outcome in stage 2. This means

$$\tilde{f}_M^i = f_M^i,$$

$$\tilde{f}_M = \frac{1}{n} \sum f_M^i$$

$$\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i \in \Omega} f_M^i, \Omega \equiv \{\text{families where the mother's ability} = A_M \}$$

2.6 How to interpret the game

It is four terms in the derivative. They reflect individual variation in preferences, $C_M - C_F$, and abilities, $A_M - A_F$, statistical discrimination, $\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}$, and norms, $-4\alpha(f_M - \tilde{f}_M)$.

The two first terms reflects variation in individual characteristics which are exogenous to the model. In this case, exogenous means that they are neither the result of statistical discrimination nor norms (or at least not the norms included in the model). Looking at Equation [derivative], the only difference between Aand C is that A is included in the wage forming expectations $(\tilde{f}_M^{A_M})$. This means that A can be a base for statistical discrimination whereas C can not.

Furthermore, since the parents are assumed to be altruistic toward each other, the difference between C_M and C_F could also be interpreted in different way. As I have explained it, $C_M - C_F$ reflects how much the mother enjoys staying home with the child compared to the father (and compared to how much they enjoy working). An alternative interpretation is that $C_M - C_F$ is the difference in ability for child care and both parents benefit from letting the best suited parent stay home.

Even though the individual C can not be a base for statistical discrimination, an average difference between the sexes can. What is visible to the employer is the ability and the sex. Thus, expectations are formed based on the percentage of the parental leave an average person with the same sex and ability as the employee is expected to use. Employers will use these expectations to make rational decisions. Employees with lower expected parental leave will have relatively higher wages when they have their child. The explanation for this is that employers invest more in employees who they expect to be more present at work and/or that the employers pay more in the first place because they prefer hiring people who will not be away for a longer period.

A more extensive interpretation is that it is the entire society which discriminates. Parents, relatives, teachers etc expect girls to be responsible for children in the future and train them for that. Boys are expected to spend more energy on work and are encouraged to develop work life related qualities. This interpretation means that discrimination starts already at birth.

An alternative interpretation is that the statistical discrimination is not really discrimination but a specialization à la Becker (Becker, 1981, 1985). In

and

this version, the individuals themselves invest more time and effort if they do not plan to be home. But if that is the case, the individuals themselves should be expected to have knowledge about their own preferences. This could be incorporated in the model by just excluding the preference term, putting C = 0for all individuals, and instead assume that preferences are also included in A. If C should be included in expectations, it could as well be merged with Asince the only difference between them is that C is usually not known by the one who discriminates. The new A will in this case represent all exogenous characteristics.

One of the main conclusions in Becker's specialization model is that the specialization increases welfare. Given the alternative interpretation of the statistical discrimination as a Becker specialization, it should come as no surprise that it is welfare increasing to allow specialization. In the next section, I will show that this is indeed the case (when total welfare is measured as sum of all families' utility).

The last term in Equation [derivative] is the norm term, $-4\alpha(f_M - \tilde{f}_M)$. This is a negative term which reflects the social cost for violating norms. In contrast to the other terms, I have here chosen to use a quadratic expression (leading to a linear term in the derivative). There are two reasons for this. First, this means that it will be negative to deviate from the norm in both directions. A father who does not use any parental leave will run the risk of being perceived as a bad father whereas he would be perceived as a bad employee if he took too much. In both cases, there is social cost. Second, a quadratic term has the realistic feature that a small deviation will hardly be noticed, but a large deviation implies a substantial social cost.

The choice of form for the norm term incorporates some of the main beliefs shared by the advocators of daddy months. First, the effects are modeled as negative. The parents perceive a negative pressure which decreases their utility when they are violating the norm, but they do not get any positive utility from not breaking it (compared to a situation without norms regarding this). Second, the norm is assumed to be stronger when the variety of choice is less, which is captured by the parameter $\alpha = \alpha_0 e^{-\beta \sigma \tilde{f}}$. This means that a development where different families chose differently means a weaker norm. What might not be in line with the argumentation of the pro-intervention side, is that the model does not differ between equal and non equal norms. A norm where all couples are assumed to share exactly equally is as strong, and as negative, as a norm where mothers are expected to use all of the insurance.

Another important aspect for how the model should be interpreted is how

long a cycle is. If one cycle is nine months it means that we will come to an equilibrium stage rather soon. If one cycle equals one generation, it would take a long time to get to an equilibrium and there might be reasons to speed up the process even if we are heading toward the equilibrium we want.

Unfortunately, there is no obvious answer to the question. To begin with, the division into different stages and cycles is artificial. In reality, it is of course a continuous ongoing process where new children are born and expectations are formed affecting wages and norms simultaneously. What determines the approximate time of the cycle, is when the expectations start to have effect for statistical discrimination and how fast norms change. If it is the employer who discriminates, the time lag between entering the labor market and getting children is a good indication for the length of the cycle¹⁰. If it is the society which starts to discriminate at birth, the cycle will be much longer.

The norms could also be discussed in similar ways. What has more effect on the norms faced by new parents, how their parents did or how their older siblings did? I will not try to judge between these different interpretations. Instead, I leave the length of the cycle as a question open for discussion.

3 Statistical discrimination

To study the effect of different components of the model, I will go through some simplified examples where I have isolated important effects which I want to highlight.

3.1 Statistical discrimination and the positive specialization effect

As mentioned previously, there is a positive specialization effect from statistical discrimination which increases total welfate. The easiest way to see this is to ignore the norms and assume that individuals have the same characteristics, $C_M = C_F = C_0$, $A_M = A_F = A_0$ and $\alpha = 0$. Since there are no differences in ability, the expectations can not depend on differences in abilities and we have $\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} = \tilde{f}_M$ and $\tilde{f}_F^{A_F} = \tilde{f}_F = 1 - \tilde{f}_M$. This gives

$$\frac{dU}{df_M} = 2\tilde{f}_M - 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{dU}{df_M} \begin{cases} > 0, \quad \tilde{f}_x > 0.5 \\ < 0, \quad \tilde{f}_x < 0.5. \end{cases}$$

¹⁰One could argue that it should be divided by two to get an average of the time left when investments are done continuously.

From this we can conclude that the parent who is expected to take out most of the parental leave will take out all of it. The family's utility will also be bigger in this case due to the specialization effect¹¹ $(U(f_x = 1) = U(f_x = 0) = 1 + C_0 - A_0)$ and $U(f_x = 0.5) = 0.5 + C_0 - A_0)$. The employers know who will be home with the kids and can thus invest accordingly. The positive productivity (and thus utility) effect will be a relevant factor also when norms are introduced and differences in characteristics are introduced, although it will affect different families different in these cases. I will get back to the implications of this at the end of this section.

Even though statistical discrimination increases utility, there are cases where we can get stuck in a suboptimal equilibrium. As an example, assume that all mothers have a slightly smaller preference for child care than fathers, $C_M = C_0$ and $C_F = C_0 + C'$ (C' > 0). In this case, it is obvious that the optimal solution is that the fathers take all the parental leave. But if we start in a situation where mothers take all the parental leave, $\tilde{f}_M = 1$, we might be stuck there if C' is not big enough, $\frac{dU}{df_M} = 2\tilde{f}_M - 1 - C' = 1 - C' > 0, C' < 1.$

3.2 Statistical discrimination and variation in preferences

To see how differences in preferences influence the outcome, I will continue to assume no difference in abilities and no norms, but I introduce a difference in preferences for child care. I will assume that there are two possible values of C_M and C_F , C_0 and C_1 , where $C_1 > C_0$. I will also use the notation $C' = C_1 - C_0$. There is no average difference between the sexes and each combination of preferences in the couples has equal probability (25 %). I will write $f_M^{1,0}$ for a couple where the woman has preferences C_1 and the man preferences C_0 . The derivative will now be $\frac{dU}{df_M} = C_M - C_F + 2\tilde{f}_M - 1$ which for the four different types of families will be

$$\begin{split} &\frac{dU}{df_M^{0,0}} = 2\tilde{f}_M - 1, \\ &\frac{dU}{df_M^{1,0}} = C' + 2\tilde{f}_M - 1, \\ &\frac{dU}{df_M^{0,1}} = -C' + 2\tilde{f}_M - 1 \quad \text{and} \\ &\frac{dU}{df_M^{1,1}} = 2\tilde{f}_M - 1. \end{split}$$

¹¹Remember that I have assumed altruistic families. Without this assumption it is not obvious that the specialization effect is positive for utility.

| Couple | GS | CS | | | | | |
|---|----------------|--------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| $U(f_M^{0,0})$ | $U_0 + 1$ | $U_0 + \frac{3}{4}$ | | | | | |
| $U(f_M^{1,0})$ | $U_0 + 1 + C'$ | $U_0 + \frac{3}{4} + C'$ | | | | | |
| $U(f_M^{0,1})$ | $U_0 + 1$ | $U_0 + \frac{1}{4} + C'$ | | | | | |
| $U(f_M^{1,1})$ | $U_0 + 1 + C'$ | $U_0 + \frac{3}{4} + C'$ | | | | | |
| where $U_0 \equiv C_0 + (\frac{2}{\ell} - 1)A_0 - \frac{1}{\ell}$ | | | | | | | |

Table 2: The table compares utilities in different families in gender and characteristics separating equilibria in a model with statistical discrimination and two possible preferences.

There are two kinds of possible equilibria in this case. One type of equilibrium is a gender separating equilibrium (GS) where all the women (or the men) stay home. The other type of equilibrium is a characteristics separating (CS) equilibrium where the parent with most preferences for childcare stays home. In the later case, the sex (and thus the specialization effect) will still determine who stays home when the parents have the same preferences. (It can be either sex who stays home in this case, but it will be the same sex in both cases so that $f_M^{0,0} = f_M^{1,1}$.) In GS it is the statistical discrimination that drives the decision of the parents. In CS, the difference in preferences are compared to the statistical discrimination will determine if GS, CS or both are equilibria.

If C' > 1, GS is not stable and CS will be reached. To see this, assume that we start in GS. This means $\tilde{f}_M = 1$. For GS to be a stable equilibrium, all derivatives must be > 0. The first derivative to become negative is for the couples where the man has greater preferences for child care. Here $\frac{dU}{f_M^{0,1}} = -C'+1$ which means that GS is never stable if C' > 1. Hence we have only CS in these cases.

If we start in a CS where $\tilde{f}_M^{0,0} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} = 1$, $\tilde{f}_M^{0,1} = 0$ and $\tilde{f}_M = \frac{3}{4}$, the equilibrium is stable if $\frac{dU}{df_M^{0,1}} = C' + \frac{1}{2} < 0$. This implies that we will have GS if $C' < \frac{1}{2}$ and CS if C' > 1. In the region between, both equilibria are stable and the initial expectations will determine which will be reached.

To see where there might be room for utility improving policies, it is interesting to compare utility. Table 2 does that for different families. The conclusion is that in the region where both equilibria are stable, neither is Pareto improving compared to the other. If we do not care about the distribution effect we can just add them up. Doing so we get $\sum U_{GS} - \sum U_{CS} = 1.5 - C'$. Hence, if one does not care about the distribution within marriage or the distribution between different families¹² and just looks at the total utility the risk is that there is too little statistical discrimination. Furthermore, it would be positive for the total utility to force the women (or the men) to take all the parental leave in the cases where 1 < C' < 1.5, even though GS is not an equilibrium. The reason for this is that all gains from the difference in preferences are considered by the parents when they decide how to share. What is the externality in their decision is the effect on future expectations and thus the possibility for future statistical discrimination. And, as showed in the previous example, statistical discrimination tends to be positive for total utility in this model.

3.3 Statistical discrimination and variation in abilities

To highlight the difference between preferences and abilities in the model, I will also work through an example where I assume difference in abilities instead of differences in preferences. Hence, I assume $C_M = C_F = C_0$ whereas A_M and A_F can have two different values, A_0 and $A_1(>A_0)$. Again, I will use the notation $A' = A_1 - A_0$ and as in the case with differences in preferences, I will assume no average difference between the sexes and each of the four types of couples to be equally probable. I will also use the same notation where $f_M^{1,0}$ means the mother's share in a family where the mother has ability A_1 and the father has ability A_0^{13} . With these assumptions, the expected parental leave share can be written $\tilde{f}_M^{A_M} = \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{f}_M^{M,0} + \tilde{f}_M^{M,1})$ and $\tilde{f}_F^{A_F} = \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{f}_F^{0,F} + \tilde{f}_F^{1,F})$.

Using these reformulations we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{dU}{f_M^{0,0}} &= \frac{1}{2} (\tilde{f}_M^{0,0} + \tilde{f}_M^{0,1}) - \frac{1}{2} ([1 - \tilde{f}_M^{0,0}] + [1 - \tilde{f}_M^{1,0}]) = \\ &= \tilde{f}_M^{0,0} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{0,1} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} - 1, \\ \frac{dU}{f_M^{1,0}} &= -A' + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{0,0} + \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} - 1, \\ \frac{dU}{f_M^{0,1}} &= A' + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{0,0} + \tilde{f}_M^{0,1} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} - 1 \quad \text{and} \\ \frac{dU}{f_M^{1,1}} &= \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{0,0} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} + \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} - 1. \end{split}$$

The difference from the case with differences in preferences is that it is not just the sex, but also the abilities that can be a base for statistical discrimination. This is reflected in the utility function by a higher dependence on the expectation

¹²And of course also given the simplified linear utility function.

¹³Note that this has the opposite effect on who is best suited to stay home than in the previous example. To have a bigger preference for child care means that it is more probable to stay home whereas a bigger ability leads to a lesser probability to stay home.

| Couple | GS | CS |
|----------------|------------------------------------|--|
| $U(f_M^{0,0})$ | $U_0 + 1$ | $U_0 + 1 - \frac{1}{2\ell}$ |
| $U(f_M^{1,0})$ | $U_0 + 1 + A'(\frac{1}{\ell} - 1)$ | $U_0 + \frac{1}{2} + A' \frac{1}{\ell}$ |
| $U(f_M^{0,1})$ | $U_0 + 1 + A' \frac{1}{\ell}$ | $U_0 + 1 + A' \frac{1}{\ell}$ |
| $U(f_M^{1,1})$ | $U_0 + 1 + A'(\frac{2}{\ell} - 1)$ | $U_0 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\ell} + A'(\frac{2}{\ell} - 1)$ |

 Table 3: The table compares utilities in different families in gender and characteristics separating equilibria in a model with statistical discrimination and two possible abilities.

for more similar couples. Note that the expectations for the totally opposite couple have no impact at all.

Despite that, the result is quite similar to the case with different preferences. The GS, where $\tilde{f}_M^{0,0} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} = \tilde{f}_M^{0,1} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} = 1$ is still stable if A' < 1.

The difference compared to the previous case is that the CS is now stable for all positive values of A'. This means that the difference in ability must not have any other effect than to be an alternative basis for statistical discrimination.

Compared to the case with differences in preferences, there is now also more possible CS. Since $\frac{dU}{df_M^{0,0}}$ does not depend on $\tilde{f}_M^{1,1}$ and vice versa they can go in opposite directions so that the woman stays home in the couples where both have high ability and the man stays home in the couple where both have low ability (or vice versa), for example $\tilde{f}_M^{0,0} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,0} = 0$ and $\tilde{f}_M^{0,1} = \tilde{f}_M^{1,1} = 1$. Comparing the utilities for GS and CS gives Table 3.

As in the case with difference in preferences, no equilibrium is Pareto improving compared to the other in the region where both are possible. Looking at the total utility, we get $\sum U_{GS} - \sum U_{CS} = 1 - A'$. Thus, the conclusion that GS gives higher total utility in the multiequilibria region is still valid, but in this case it is never a good policy to force all women (men) to stay home when this is not a stable equilibrium. The difference here is once again that abilities can be an alternative base for statistical discrimination.

3.4 Conclusion on statistical discrimination

In light of the difference between the examples above, I would like to go back to the difference between preferences and abilities and discuss alternative interpretations. One question to ask is who discriminates? So far, I have mainly assumed that it is the employers, but there are alternative interpretations. One possibility is that it is the individuals themselves who invest different amount of human capital depending on how they estimate the likelihood of taking the main share of the parental leave¹⁴. This is the model described by Becker (1985). Another possible interpretation is that it is the society in general who discriminates. In both of the latter cases, the starting point of the discrimination can also be interpreted differently. If it is the society which discriminates, this can start at the birth. If the parents anticipate a girl to form a household with a man and take the lion's share of the responsibility for household work, it is a rational choice to teach her more about that than her brother who they assume to spend most effort and time in market activities.

The interpretation also affects the impact of the sex based statistical discrimination. If one believes that the default (genetic) correlation between sex and other characteristics is low¹⁵, there might be alternative bases for statistical discrimination of adults. If, on the other hand, discrimination starts already in the maternity ward, there are fewer alternatives.

Looking at the positive specialization effect showed above, it is interesting that this effect exists. That being said, it is wise to not draw too dramatic conclusions from it. First, the statistical discriminating equilibria are not Pareto improving, the utility functions are linear and the utility effect on distribution is not taken into account. Second, as the difference between the examples shows, the gains with sex based statistical discrimination will be much smaller when an alternative basis exists. Nevertheless, it is good to remember that with the assumptions I have made, and the welfare measure I use, the statistical discrimination is indeed positive for the total utility.

This means that the model so far can not explain why there should be any reasons for government interventions such as daddy months. There are also additional arguments for this. If one assumes that there are no average differences between women and men, sex based statistical discrimination is either totally dominating the picture or does not have any impact. Either the mother (or the father) always stays at home or the most able/the one with the strongest preferences always does so. This will be clearer and have bigger impact when going toward a more continuous range of abilities/preferences. If the characteristic gap in one family is big enough to overcome the statistical discrimination, this will change the expectations for the next cycle. If the range of characteristics is continuous, this means that in the next cycle more families will act on characteristics changing the expectations even more and this will proceed until there

¹⁴From a model perspective this means that everything is abilities since all characteristics are known by the person who discriminates.

¹⁵This is a very general belief among the advocators of an individualized parental leave insurance and without assuming this, it would be virtually impossible to explain why forcing fathers to take half of the parental leave is a good idea.

is no statistical discrimination left.

Another weakness of the model so far, is that the model predicts that one parent should always take all (or at least as much as allowed) of the parental leave, which is not the case in reality. To change this, I will introduce the effect of norms¹⁶.

4 Norms

4.1 The gravitational effect of norms

I have chosen to model the norms so that they are first and foremost a gravitational force which drags the end values toward the average of the distribution. This becomes particularly clear when removing the statistical discrimination. Doing so and solve for the derivative gives

$$f_M = \tilde{f}_M + \frac{C_M - C_F}{4\alpha}.$$

If there are no differences in preferences, it is easy to see that the parents will share as they expect the average family to do. In a simple case with only two possible preferences¹⁷ of C_M and C_F (denoted C_0 and C_1 as in previous examples), the families with different preferences will have the same absolute deviation from the average, $\frac{C'}{4\alpha}$, but in different directions. This will be true as long as the boundary conditions are not violated. Important to note is that the norms do not tend to drag the average of the distribution in any direction¹⁸. Comparing the first two cases in Figure 1 shows how the distribution drags out around the mean. The size of the deviation will depend on the values of α_0 and β . To see how this work, I will denote the expected absolute deviation \tilde{D} . The

¹⁶Another (complementary) explanation for why parents do not share completely unequally is that the marginal utility from parental leave is decreasing as indicated by the studies of Eriksson (2005). I will come back to this in section 6.

¹⁷Note that there is no difference between preferences and ability in a world without statistical discrimination.

¹⁸This is true as long as the boundary conditions are not violated. If they are, the average will be forced toward the middle until the boundary condition is not longer violated. Although this effect will indeed drive the development in absence of statistical discrimination, it is not a particularly strong effect and it will be weaker the closer to the middle the average comes. This behavior is also quite sensitive for how the model is constructed. One could imagine that the choice to let one parent take all the parental leave might send particularly strong signals. This would mean that the impact on norms would be greater increasing the father's share from zero to one month than from increasing his share from one to two months. If that is the case, the average might also be dragged away from the middle.



Figure 1: The figure shows how the distribution evolves over time starting from different points in a case without statistical discrimination and symmetric distribution of preferences. Each star represents one family. The x-axis represents how the parental leave is shared. A star on the left border means a family where the mother take 100 % of the leave whereas a point on the right border means that the father take 100 %. The position on the y-axis has no meaning (except from improving visibility). In the first two cases, the converged equilibrium is reached and the distribution around the mean will be the same. Note that the mean is not changed. The third case shows what happens when starting in a more diverged state. Here, the distribution diverges so that the parent with the comparative advantage will always take the entire leave. Due to the way the norm factor is constructed, the utility will be higher in case 3.

expected standard deviation will be $\sigma_{\tilde{f}}=\frac{\tilde{D}}{\sqrt{2}}$ and the actual deviation will be

$$D = \frac{C'}{4\alpha_0} e^{\beta \frac{\tilde{D}}{\sqrt{2}}}.$$

In equilibrium, D should equal \tilde{D} . Figure 2 plots $D(\tilde{D})$ along with the straight line $D = \tilde{D}$. The conclusion is that there are two possible inner equilibria, but only one of them is stable. I will call the stable inner equilibrium converged since it is a state where (most of) the outliers do not reach the boundaries because of the gravitational effect of the norms.



Figure 2: The figure shows the absolute actual deviation as a function of absolute expected deviation in a case with only two possible values of C, no differences in abilities and no statistical discrimination. There are two equilibria, but just one is stable. Starting from anywhere to the left of B, A will be reached. Starting from the right of B, the deviation will just increase until stopped by the boundary conditions.

The alternative to a converged equilibrium is a diverged state where just one parent stays home. In this state, the standard deviation will be bigger. Hence, the strength of the norms will be lower and, since the norms are modeled to be negative, the utility will be higher. Thus, the norm externality works so that a bigger deviation from the average has a positive effect for future parents. This is interesting since it can motivate interventions. An intervention which can change the equilibrium in case 1 or 2 in Figure 1 to the equilibrium in case 3 would be welfare improving. Except from giving an explanation for why one parent does not always take the entire leave, identity economics also brings in another realistic feature. As seen in Figure 1, the equilibrium will not be reached immediately, but will be reached gradually with decreasing speed. This opens up for a discussion on how close to an equilibrium we currently are and if something should be done to increase the speed. I will get back to this discussion in the next section.

4.2 Combining norms and statistical discrimination

To see how statistical discrimination changes the picture, Figure 3 has the same set of parameters as Figure 1 in other aspects, but includes statistical discrimination. The difference when statistical discrimination enters the picture is that the average will now be moved and we might end up in a situation where one sex takes almost all the parental leave. Even though a similar situation could be an equilibrium even without statistical discrimination, it is now a much more stable one. The difference is that the mean will now be dragged back if disturbed. The utility effect will be more ambiguous than in the previous example. Recall that statistical discrimination has a positive utility effect (measured as the sum of the families' utility) due to specialization. This positive effect will be stronger in a converged gender separating equilibrium such as case 1 or 2. On the other hand, the negative utility effect of strict norms will be more severe in those cases than in the diverged characteristics separating equilibrium. Thus, it depends on the parameter combinations which one is best from a welfare perspective. The conclusion is that it can, but need not, be welfare improving with an intervention which shifts the equilibrium.

In Figure 3, there are differences in preferences, but not in abilities. This means that the only available information for the employers is the sex. Introducing differences in ability in Figure 4 means introducing an alternative way for the employers to estimate the likelihood of a future parental leave. The effect of this is that a diverged equilibrium is more likely to be reached.



Figure 3: The figure shows the same cases as in Figure 1, but in a world with statistical discrimination and norms. Case 1 and 2 shows how the statistical discrimination drags the distribution toward the left ending in a situation where one sex takes almost the entire parental leave regardless of preferences. In case 3, the distribution instead diverges to a state where preferences determine the choice.



Figure 4: This figure has the same settings as Figure 3, but with the difference that there is now a variety in both preferences and abilities which change the development in case 2.

5 Daddy months and other policies

5.1 The history from the perspective of the model

When introduced in 1974, Swedish fathers used 0 % of the parental insurance. Since then it has increased over time. This is in line with the predictions of the model. In the beginning very few families choose to let the father take any leave at all, but the few who did changed the norms and the expectations slightly. As time went on, the fathers took a bigger and bigger share and this was further increased by the introduction of the daddy months.

What is less obvious is where we are today. The first question is if we are close of far away from a stable equilibrium. This relates to the discussion in subsection 2.2 regarding the length of a cycle. If a cycle is one generation, we can be quite far away. If it is a few years, we are probably quite close.

The second question is which type of equilibrium we are approaching. As seen in the examples, it is uncertain weather there exist more than one stable equilibrium. A possible interpretation is that we are already in a stable equilibrium (given the daddy months). In this case, the big observed difference between the sexes reflects differences external to the model (for example genetic), possibly exaggerated by statistical discrimination. Removing the daddy months would in this case mean that the fathers used even less, but it would be welfare increasing. It is also possible that we are approaching a much more equal equilibrium, but that it will take hundreds of years before we get there.

In the case where there are more than one stable equilibrium, the two main alternatives are a converged GS where one sex take the bigger part in almost all families and a diverged CS where the difference between families is much bigger. Given the starting point in 1974, we were in this case definitely heading toward the converged GS before the introduction of the first daddy month. Whether or not the daddy months have changed the distribution so much that we have changed destination is not clear.

In the cases where two equilibria are possible, it is of interest to compare the welfare. As discussed previously, it is not clear which equilibrium increases welfare. The reason is that the welfare effect¹⁹ from the statistical discrimination is bigger in a GS, whereas the norms will have less negative impact in a diverged equilibrium. Also note that there is no one to one relationship between welfare and exogenous average differences between the sexes. It is possible that the diverged CS is optimal even if there are small average differences and it is also

 $^{^{19}\}mathrm{Using}$ the utility sum as the measure of welfare.

possible that a converged CS is optimal even without such differences²⁰.

Considering the political discussion and the aim of this thesis, the most interesting cases are when it would be welfare increasing if the share of the fathers increased. This is true if we are stuck in a converged GS when moving to a diverged CS would be welfare increasing. It is also true if we are heading toward an optimal and more equal equilibrium, but have a big distance left and are moving slowly.

5.2 Daddy months

The first thing to be concluded with regards to the daddy months, is that the effect on today's parents is negative. To restrict the tradability decreases welfare for the families who would otherwise have traded and there is no mechanism in the model which could offset this. Also in the long run, the model can not explain how permanent restrictions can increase welfare. The gain with a diverged equilibrium is that different families can split very differently reflecting the (exogenous) variation in characteristics. Hence, the gains from shifting equilibrium can to a large extent not be captured as long as the restrictions remain.

However, used as a temporary policy the daddy months could have positive long term effects, either because they shift the path toward a better equilibrium or because they speed up the development.

5.3 Dynamic daddy months only for daddies

There are two big problems with the current construction of the daddy months. The first problem is that it is currently a permanent policy. If it should be able to motivate the daddy months by the mechanism described here, it needs to be turned off when the development has come far enough. With the current construction there must be a political decision to do that. Furthermore, depending on how stable the optimal equilibrium is, there might be a risk for some sort of external shock shifting the development in the wrong direction. In this case, the policy needs to be switched on again. The second, and more severe, problem is that the daddy months are currently not only daddy months but also mommy months. The restriction is two sided. Today, this does not matter that much, but if the development continues as intended, more and more fathers will be restricted from taking an even bigger part from the mother. This is negative

 $^{^{20}}$ In this case, it does not matter if it is the fathers or the mothers who take the lion's share.

both because of the short term loss and because it slows down the speed by which the average moves.

Considering these problems, a dominant policy would be dynamic daddy months only for daddies. This policy could be formulated so that if the average share of one sex is below a limit, persons of this sex will not be aloud to trade a part of the parental leave to persons of the other sex. This policy will both be less costly in the short term and have better effect.

5.4 Equality bonus

As with the daddy months, the problem with the equality bonus is that it works on the individual family instead of on the average. The problem, as described in this model, is not that each family does not split equally, but that the average way of splitting is skewed. As long as almost all mothers take more than half of the leave, it has the wished effect. But for families who had otherwise planed to let the father take more than half, it will have only negative effects. A dominant policy would in this case be to just pay the parents more when the father stays home.

6 The model and the reality

6.1 Generality of the results

I have set up a quite specific model for the parental leave, but the model could be generalized and used in a much wider context. What I have shown is how the combination of statistical discrimination and strong norms could form a suboptimal equilibrium. This result holds for any situation with statistical discrimination and strong norms. Hence, it can very well be a possible explanation for a wide range of discriminating/separating phenomena with regards to sex, race, etc.

6.2 Correlation with other norms

As discussed before, exogenous differences in preferences (and/or abilities) are one possible way of explaining reality. These differences can be genetic, but need not be. Another explanation is the correlation between norms regarding parental leave and other norms in society.

The norms regarding parental leave are closely related to other norms regarding division of labor and responsibility between the sexes. One of the strongest arguments for introducing the daddy months was the expected correlation with general responsibility for the child care (Klinth, 2002). If fathers took more of the parental leave they should also take bigger responsibility for the child later on. Later research indicates that this might not be true. Both Ekberg et al. (2005) and Bekkengen (2002) show, with their very different approaches, that it is far from certain that a father who uses a bigger part of the parental leave will also take bigger responsibility for the child later on. But even if forcing fathers to use a bigger part of the parental leave has a limited effect on other norms, it does not mean the correlation with other norms is zero. The interdependence might go the other way.

Imagine a situation where the norms are that parents should share equally and there are no genetic differences between sexes, but there are differences in other norms. For example, the mother is still expected to take the biggest responsibility for the child when both parents are back to work again. In this case, it is very likely that the equal norm for sharing the parental leave would not be stable.

In the context of the division of labor in the family, one possibility might be that the welfare can not be improved by only the daddy months since the situation will be pushed back to the same converged gender separating equilibrium when the restrictions are removed. But, it might at the same time be possible that the logic could be applied to the combination of all norms regarding sex and child care. It could still be welfare improving if it was possible to shift to a diverged characteristics separating equilibrium for all these norms simultaneously.

6.3 How the norms are modeled

When interpreting the results, it is important to keep in mind how the norms are modeled. The assumption is that the norms equal the expectations and that the expectations equal the previous outcome. This might not be completely realistic. Especially when reforms such as daddy months are introduced or removed, one could argue that people will understand that future behavior will change and that norms will change accordingly. For the results to hold, it is important that there is a positive correlation between future norms and previous outcome, but the relation need not be one to one. I would argue that at least the norms are not formed mainly from rational expectations, but are slowly changing subconscious processes. This means that norms will not adjust directly to a rational forecast of the future. Hence, I do believe that the conclusions hold.

In addition to policies and previous outcome, norms could change due to many other circumstances. Norms are affected by a trends, movements, etc. It is reasonable to believe that both organized campaigns from the feminist movement and things such as the choice of celebrities, etc affect the norms. From a model perspective, these kinds of things would be described as external shocks. This is why the combination of statistical discrimination and norms is so interesting. Norms themselves can explain why change comes slowly, and maybe not at all, without these external shocks, but by adding statistical discrimination one can explain why the converged gender separating equilibrium is not only an equilibrium, but also a stable equilibrium. After an external shock, the situation will be dragged back to the equilibrium.

The effect of norms modeled here is that one gets negative utility from breaking them and more so the stronger they are. The norms are also assumed to be stronger when there is less variation in outcomes. This is a view that is shared by the advocates of daddy months, but it is less certain that everyone agrees on the other side. As in the general matter, I do not intend to defend one or another opinion. I just conclude that if one believes that people get as much positive utility from living up to a norm as negative utility from violating it, the results are not valid.

6.4 The equality perspective

In the model I have used, the parents are assumed to behave altruistically and maximize a common utility function. This has two major implications. First, it is not obvious how realistic this assumption is. Second, it also means that the equality effects are not included. Much of the political discussion on the topic is based on the belief that the unequal use of the parental insurance disadvantages women. If this is true, there is another argument for government interventions, but it will not change the mechanisms described here. The only conclusion which might not be valid if the equality perspective is included is that it is not longer certain that daddy months never can increase welfare as a permanent policy.

6.5 The heterogeneous reality

Theoretical models always involve simplifications of a heterogeneous reality. This one is no different. This is necessary to be able to focus on the core mechanism and I do believe that the results would hold even in a more complex reality.

It is reasonable to believe that a highly educated and well paid woman is more likely to have children with a highly educated man. Introducing this would increase technical complexity, but not change anything else.

The model allows for statistical discrimination based on ability, but it assumes that the identity effects are only based on sex. It is also likely that the highly educated woman identifies herself more with other women in similar situations than with women with no education and low income. Introducing more identities in the model could explain these differences. Technically, this could be done by replacing \tilde{f} in $U_I(\sigma_{\tilde{f}}, f_M) = -\alpha(\sigma \tilde{f})(\tilde{f}_M - f_M)^2$ with a weighted average giving higher weight to more similar families. The current model allows individual variation in exogenous preferences and abilities, but not individual variation in how sensitive one is to the norms. Although there is certainly such a variation, introducing an additional source of variation would not add much explanatory power. The norms would still act as a gravitational force on the overall distribution.

In reality, children are born into a lot of different types of families. In the model, all children are born in heterosexual couples living together. Gay parents would probably not affect the norms so much, at least if there is an equal number of lesbians and gay men who have children. Single parents will probably affect the model more. An overweight of single mothers compared to single men could tilt the average use and influence the norm (both in the model and in reality). Taking it one step further, one could model the choice for parents who are not living together as a binary choice and assume that mothers will take all the parental leave in the cases where she would otherwise have taken more than half. This would introduce an additional feature which would act very conservatively as long as the average mother's share would be high and then has less and less impact (given equal default preferences and abilities) as more and more single fathers appeared.

A simplification that might have impact is that I have assumed that parents always use the entire parental leave, which they do not have to. This limits the effects of reforms such as the daddy months to some extent. Even if the parents are not allowed to trade at all, it is not certain that the sharing would be equal.

6.6 Linearity assumptions

Except from the norms, all relations in the model are assumed to be linear. This is a simplification in general, but there are two phenomena which are clearly unrealistic. First, the linear description of the economic loss when staying home does not reflect the income limit in the parental insurance. That means that the economic effect is underestimated in families where at least one parent has an income over the limit (and where there is a significant difference in income). Including this is certainly possible, but it would increase the technical complexity a lot (introducing a discontinued derivative) with a limited increase in explanatory power.

Second, the work by Eriksson (2005) indicates that there might be a decreasing marginal utility for staying home. This could be incorporated in the model by replacing $U_C(C_M, f_M) = C_M f_M$ with $U_C(C_M, f_M) = C_M f_M^{\gamma}$, where $\gamma < 1$ means decreasing marginal utility. I have explored this way of modeling and it has the realistic effect that less families let one parent take 100 % of the parental leave²¹. Despite that, I decided that the linear assumption worked well enough to prove my points and I will not show these results.

7 Conclusion

Until now, economic theories have been able to evaluate some of the consequences of different constructions of the parental leave, but they have not been able to explain why a government intervention forcing fathers to take a bigger share could improve the situation.

In this thesis, I have shown that is possible to explain why mothers are still taking around 80 % of the parental leave by other means than genetic differences. A combination of statistical discrimination and a willingness to stick to the behavior prescribed by current norms could provide an alternative explanation. Furthermore, it is possible that this is a permanent state which could be suboptimal. Hence, political interventions could be motivated in certain cases.

The model I have used has been specific for the parental leave, but there is no reason why the main results can not be used in a wider context. The same argumentation could be applied on other discrimination/separating phenomena regarding gender, race, etc.

Although interventions could be motivated, the model used here can not explain why restricting the tradability of the parental insurance between parents (the daddy months) could increase welfare used as a permanent policy. However, used as a temporary policy it can be a way to change the norms so that a new and welfare increasing equilibrium will be reached when the policy is removed. This would benefit the future parents, but it would still do so at the expense of current parents. A policy which could do the same job even better with less short term welfare losses is dynamic daddy months where the tradability is restricted only for the sex which tends to use a too small share and only when

 $^{^{21}}$ In fact, it will mean that no one will do that, which is not realistic either. The most realistic approach would probably be to let γ vary between individuals.

the share of this sex is to small.

The aim of this thesis has been to show a possible way of motivating why the government should intervene in the parents' choices. This is based on certain assumptions which, from my perspective, could or could not be true. Depending on the choice of parameters, the asymmetric use of the parental leave could be explained both as a suboptimal equilibrium due to a wrong starting point or as an optimal equilibrium due to average genetic differences in preferences.

To find out if the explanation sketched here is the correct one, much more research must be done. Until then, it is an open question which explanation is more probable. What I hope to have achieved with this thesis is to spread some light on which view of the underlying factors could motivate political interventions.

References

- George A. Akerlof and Rachel E. Kranton. Economics and identity. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 115:715–753, 2000.
- George A. Akerlof and Rachel E. Kranton. *Identity Economics*. Princeton University Press, 2010.
- James W. Albrecht, Per-Arne Edin, Marianne Sundström, and Susan B. Vroman. Career interruptions and subsequent earnings: A reexamination using swedish data. *Journal of Human Resources*, 34:294–311, 1999.
- Camilla Andersson and Maria Johansson. To be or not to be is parental leave ruled by ideas and conceptions, or factual circumstances? Master's thesis, University of Karlstad, 2006. Bachelor Thesis.
- Kenneth J. Arrow. The theory of discrimination. In Orley Ashenfelter and Albert Rees, editors, *Discrimination in Labor Markets*, pages 3–33. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1973.
- Ilja Batljan, Siv Tillander, Sara Örhnall Ljungh, and Magnus Sjöström. Föräldrapenning, pappornas uttag av dagar, fakta och analys. Technical report, Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, April 20th 2004.
- Gary S. Becker. *The Economics of Discrimination*. The University of Chicago Press, 1971.
- Gary S. Becker. A Treatize on the Family. Harvard University Press, 1981.

- Gary S. Becker. Human capital, effort and the sexual division of labor. *Journal* of Labor Economics, 3:33–58, 1985.
- Lisbeth Bekkengen. Man får välja. Liber AB, 2002.
- Simone de Beauvoir. *The Second Sex.* Knopf, 2010. Translated by Constance Borde and Sheila Malovany-Chevallier [from Le Deuxième Sexe, June 1949].
- John Ekberg, Rickard Eriksson, and Guide Friebel. Parental leave a policy evaluation of the swedish "daddy-month" reform. In *IZA Discussion Papers* 1617, 2005.
- Rickard Eriksson. Parental leave in Sweden: The effects of the second daddy month. Working Paper 9/2005, Swedish Institute for Social Research (SOFI), Stockholm University, 2005.
- Försäkringskassan. Jämställdhetsbonus. http://www.forsakringskassan.se/ privatpers/foralder/planera/jamstalldhetsbonus. Retrieved May 5th 2010.
- Lena Gemzöe. Feminism. Bilda förlag, 2004.
- Anna-Lena Haverdahl, Fredrik Mellgren, and Gunnar Lundmark. Rödgröna vill föräldraförsäkringen. Svenska Daqbladet, vässa February 28^{th} 2010. http://www.svd.se/nyheter/utrikes/ rodgrona-vill-vassa-foraldraforsakringen_4343967.svd.
- Magnus Henrekson. Jämställdhet ur incitamentsperpektiv (gender equality: An incentive-based analysis). *Ekonomisk Debatt*, 20, 1993.
- Mats Johansson. Jämställdhetsbonusen en effektutvärdering. Technical report, Försäkringskassan, March 19th 2010.
- Roger Klinth. Göra pappa med barn. Den svenska pappapolitiken 1960–1995. Borea Bokförlag, 2002.
- Anneli Leijel. 85 procent vill inte ha fler kvoterade föräldradagar. Kristdemokraten, April 29th 2010. http://www.kristdemokraten.com/article. asp?Article_Id=29298.
- Ulrika Lorentzi. Vems valfrihet? Agora Press, 2004.
- Shelly Lundberg and Robert A. Pollak. Separate spheres bargaining and the marriage market. *Journal of political Economy*, 101(6), 1993.

- Andrea Moro and Peter Norman. Affirmative action in a competitive economy. Journal of Public Economics, 87:567–594, March 2003.
- Edmund S. Phelps. The statistical theory of racism and sexism. *American Economic Review*, 62:659–661, September 1972.
- Gayle Rubin. The traffic in women: Notes on a 'political economy' of sex. In Rayna Reiter, editor, *Towards an Anthropology of Women*. Monthly Review Press, New York, 1975.
- SCB. På tal om kvinnor och män. Lathund om jämställdhet 2008. Statistics Sweden, Forecasting institute, Örebro, August 2008. English title: Women and Men in Sweden, Facts and Figures.
- SOU 2005:73. Reformerad föräldraförsäkring kärlek, omvårdnad och trygghet. Technical report, Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, 2005.

A Parameters for figures

A.1 Figure 1

In this figure the statistical discrimination is turned off meaning that we have the utility function

$$U(f_M) = C_M f_M + C_F (1 - f_M) + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - f_M\right) A_M + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - (1 - f_M)\right) A_F - 2\alpha (f_M - \tilde{f}_M)^2$$

The parameters used are

$$C_M, C_F \in \left\{0, \frac{1}{2}, 1\right\}$$
$$A_M = A_F = A_0 = 1$$
$$\alpha_0 = 7$$
$$\beta = 15$$
$$\ell = 0.8$$

There are $3 \times 3 = 9$ possible couples where all couples are assumed to be equally probable. In case 1, the starting expectations are that mothers are assumed to use 80 % of the parental leave in all families. In case 2, the starting expectations are that mothers are assumed to use 51 % of the parental leave in all families. In case 3, the starting expectations are randomly chosen between 0 and 1 for all families.

A.2 Figure 3

The parameters are the same as in the Figure 1, but statistical discrimination exists, meaning that the utility function is the usual,

$$U(f_M) = C_M f_M + C_F (1 - f_M) + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - f_M\right) (A_M - \tilde{f}_M^{A_M}) + \left(\frac{1}{\ell} - (1 - f_M)\right) (A_F - \tilde{f}_F^{A_F}) - 2\alpha (f_M - \tilde{f}_M)^2$$

The starting conditions are the same as in the Figure 1.

A.3 Figure 4

The parameters are the same as in Figure 3 except from that there is less variation in C and instead some variation in A.

$$C_M, C_F \in \{0, 1\}$$
$$A_M = A_F \in \{0, 1\}$$
$$\alpha_0 = 7$$
$$\beta = 15$$
$$\ell = 0.8$$

There are $2 \times 2 \times 2 \times 2 = 16$ possible couples where all couples are assumed to be equally probable.

The starting conditions are the same as in the previous figures.